NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018 (Expires 5/31/2012)

United States Department of the Interior RECEIVE* 2280 33N

National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

. . M\ REEER F HSTCRC RATS
Registration Form NATONAL PARK ERVCE

This form is for use In nominating or requesting determinations for Individual properties and districts. See Instructions In National Register Bulletin, How
to Complete the National Register of Historic Places Registration Form. If any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for
"not applicable." For functions, architectural classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the
Instructions. Place additional certification comments, entries, and narrative items on continuation sheets if needed (NPS Form 10-900a).

AR27 A7

1. Name of Property
historic name Heaton & Cowing Mill

other names/site number  Douglas and Daniels, Heaton and Cowing Mill Company, Geneva Worsted Mill, Geneva

Mill of the Wanskuck Company

2. Location

street & number 1115 Douglas Avenue not for publication
city ortown  Providence vicinity

state  Rhode Island code RI county Providence code 007 zipcode 02908

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended,

| hereby certify that this X nomination request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards
for registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional
requirements setforth in 36 CFR Part 60.

In my opinion, the property meets does not meet the National Register Criteria. | recommend that this property
be considered significant at the following level(s) of significance:

nationaUy™ X statewide local
signati tifying official/Title

RI Historical Preservation & Heritage Commission
state or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

In my opinion, the property meets does not meet the National Register criteria.
Signature of commenting official Date
Title state or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

4. National Park Service Certification
| hereby certify that this property is:

entered in the National Register determined eligible for the National Register
determined not eligible for the National Register removed from the National Register

other (explain:)

Date of Action
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5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
(Check as many boxes as apply.) (Check only one box.) (Do not Include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing Noncontributing

X private X building(s) buildings
public - Local district district
public - State site site
public - Federal structure structure

object object
Total
Name of related multiple property listing Number of contributing resources previously
(Enter "N/A" If property is not part of a multiple property listing) listed in the National Register
N/A

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.) (Enter categories from instructions.)
INDUSTRY/manufacturing facility VACANT/not in use

INDUSTRY/industrial storage

7. Description

Architectural Classification Materials

(Enter categories from Instructions.) (Enter categories from instructions.)
MID-19'"CENTURY/Italianate foundation: stone, concrete
NO STYLE walls: stone, brick, cement block

roof:  asphalt

other:
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Narrative Description

Summary Paragraph

The Heaton & Cowing Mill isasmall, two-story, mid-19"* century, rubblestone mill with an early 20*' century
brick addition that occupies ariverside location a the edge of a larger industria complex on the eest Sde of
Douglas Pike a the Providence-North Providence boundary. The sSite, bounded by Douglas Pike (1807) on the
wes and the West River on the south, was rural when the mill was built in 1832, but assumed its present mixed-
ue urban character with Providence's expansve growth in the late 19" and early 20* centuries. While the mill
was modified incrementally during its active period of industrial use, it still conveys the distinct cheracter of a
amdl mid-19* century factory with its small scale and form, rough-textured masonry and its Ste on the north
bank of the river.

Main block (1832 & seg., Contributing)

The Heaton & Cowing Mill's primary block isa coursed rubblestone masonry structure, 44" wide by 52'deep,
with ashdlow end gable roof facing Douglas Pike. Its fenestration pattem features five bays, including two
dandard doorways and a double-width doorway, on the front (west) elevation and six bayson the flanks. It hes
two dories above grade and abasament that isfiilly exposad onthe south elevation. There isdso alight well
dong the eet end of theaddition'’

There islittle known about the mill's original gppearance. Other than the small nearly squarefootprint that
gopears on period mgpsbeginning in 1835, the earliest known image isasimplified 1889 insurance drawing
that shows the sone building in the current configuration, but with agarret under a dandard pitch gable roof
(Se= Additional Information, Figure 6). The mill suffered afirein 1861; the extent of the damegeis unknown,
but itislikely the brickwork incorporated into the rubblestone masonry datesfrom the sulbbsequent rebuilding.
This brickwork, which takesthe form of quoining on the main block and rusticated surrounds and segmentd
archeson the door and window openings, gives the building an Itdianate agpect.” The current heavy timber
shdlow-pitched gable roof is the result of arebuilding ca.l896.

Although there has been minor late-20* -century subdivision for vestibules, office goace and abathroom, the
building is generdly open plan. It has heavy timber framing typical of mid-19* century mill construction, with a
sngle centrd row of chamfered timber posts; the beams have been cased, gpparently in the late 19¢ century. In
the basement, a second row of wooden posts was added in the mid-20* century. On the first and sscond floor,
plank flooring is cement-surfaced in partsof the mill and exposad dsewhere. A few smal openings created for
belting to transmit power between floors are found between the first and sscond floors. The besament floor is
poured concrete. A modem dairway with apipe rail in the southwest comer leedsto the sscond floor; the
besament dairs are undemesth it.

The windows contain replacement 6/6, double-hung, frame sash. Three of the basement-levd windowsin the
south devation and dl in the north eevation have been bricked-in. Door openings on the front eevation include
a5'-wide, centrd, round-arched entryway with amodem, ged and glassinsert and, flanking this centrd door &
the ends of the building, a6'-wide round-arched freight doorway with aged door (right) and flat-headed
doorway with a32'-wide sed door (left). From ca 1862 to ca 1918, there was awhedhouse addition atached

' The grade on the north side of the building was raised in the mid-20* century; more of the basament level was expased originaly as
the bricked-in windows and cgpped-over exterior one stairway in the north wall indicate.

" Similar, dthough more omate, brick window enframements are found in Italianate-influenced Rl textilemills of the period. These
include the Phenix (West Warwick), Georgiaville (Smithfield), Anthony Mills (Coventry) and the Jes Hilton Bleachery (North
Providence).
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to the building below this freight door. There is no visible evidence remaining of the whedhouse (though there
may be buried remains) or the two engine housssthat were formerly attached to the mill on the south and north
flanks.

Rear addition (Ca. 1930, Contributing)

Between 1926 and 1937 the Wanskuck Company built a44' by 53', brick, 4-bay by 5-bay rear additionto the
older mill. This stmcture, usad as amachine and carpenter shop, was in the location of a successon of earlier
frame additions that had sarved the main mill indifferent industrial usessncethe 1850s The foundation of this
addition is concrete. The roof is shalow-pitched gable with aframe comice. Framing is heavy timber/mill
congtmction with a centra row of columns and floorsof heavy plank st on timber beams There isroughly 4'

of differencein height between the lower masonry front block and this addition. That height difference is
addressad by a couple of ggps a the communicating doorways on the sscond floor and, a the roof, abrick

firewall pargpet.

Typica of industrid constmction of the period, this pier and spandrd addition hes large nearly square windows
with sted-frame, multi-light sash with eight-light hoppers.™ Sillsare concrete; lintelsare sted. At the eest ed
of the north elevation there are large, round-arched freight doors on bothfl oors;the upper doorway hes a granite
sill. The lower door is modem sted; the double-leaf wooden door on the sscond floor gppears to be of origina
constmction. Meta-clad factory fire doors dose off the wide doorways into the sonemill onadl threelevels. A
ded darcasewith apipe railing enclosed inaframe stairwell mns adong the eest end of the addition. Intemd
aooess to the basement leve is only through the stone addition. In the basament, the windows on the eet ad
south eevations have been covered with plywood, the windows and freight doorway on the north devation

have been bricked in. There isadouble-leaf sed door st inaformer window opening & the east end of the
south elevation. Asin the sonemill, a second row of wooden postswas added in the mid-20* century.

Rear Building (After 1985, Non-Contributing)

After 1982, a35' x 34', freestanding, sngle-story, shdlow-pitched gable-roofed, cement block building was
built behind the rear block. It is atached to this block by meansof an enclosed walkway. This smcture dates to
the post-Wanskuck Company period when the mill housed variousjewe ry-related companies (1957-2000).

Setting
Themill lot to the north is presently paved with agphat which extends up to the GenevaMill complex; the
southem, lower, portion dong the West River is vegetated open goace The West River's channd islined with

donewadlsfor aghort section dongsde the mill; natura banks continue up and downstream. There isno visible
evidence of the origina racewayswhich have been filled.

" Sare of these hoppa's have bean rgplecad with Snglepane duminum insats
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" In one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property
for National Register listing.)

Property is associated with events that have made a
significant contribution to the broad patterns of our
history.

Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses high
artistic values, or represents a significant
and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information
important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mart( "x" In all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

A Owned by a religious institution or used for religious
purposes.

B removed from Its original location.

C a birthplace or grave.

D a cemetery.

E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.
F acommemorative property.

G less than 50 years old or achieving significance
within the past 50 years.

Period of Significance (justification) The period of significance represents the period of time during which the Heaton &

Providence County, RI
County and State

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from Instructions.)

Industry

Period of Significance
1832-1957

Significant Dates
1832,1861, 1879, 18%

Significant Person
(Complete only If Criterion B Is marked above.)

Cultural Affiliation

Architect/Builder

unknown

Cowing Mill functioned as a part of the regional textile econonny.

Criteria Considerations (explanation, if necessary) NA
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Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph

The Heaton & Cowing Mill issignificant under Criterion A as aregpresentative example of the amdl-scale,
early- to mid-19* -century textile factories that were built to utilize the water power of Rhode Idand's amaler
rivers and dreeams. Mills of thistype were anintegra part of early industrialization in the region, when
manufacturers reliance on water power led them to develop mill Stes on minor watercourses, not just those on
major riversthat could support large factories. For Heaton & Cowing, manufacturers of boot laces, this smal
factory provided an entree into thelarger economy; otherslike it accommodated niche services and often sarved
asincubators of iimovation. With the widespread adoption of seam power in the second half of the 19* century,
these amdl-scde mills were often abandoned or replaced with large complexes relying on deem aswell as
water power, leaving the Heaeton & Cowing Mill asarare survivor of thetype.

Narrative Statement of Significance

In the decadesfollowing Samud Sater's 1790 introduction of water-powered cotton spinning in Pawtucket, a
wide range of entrepreneurs secured water privileges dong the waterways of southem New England seeking
profit in the emergent textile economy. A survey of cotton millsin Rhode Idand and neaerby Connecticut and
Massachusetts conducted in 1815 shows that the average number of spindles among the 167 factories reported
was 805 While the largest manufacturer, Almy, Brown and Sater, reported some 5170 spindles, a significant
majority of respondents reported operations as small as 300-500 spindles. For example, among the ten factories
reported in North Providence, the average spindle count was 780, but one operation (Stephen Randall's mill on
the West River™) reported only 172 spindles.

A sen=e of the optimism despite difficulties arising from the early yearsof cotton manufacture was offered by
John Reese and John Nilesin 1819:

Whenwe congder thet it is but about fifteen years 9nce [cotton manufecture] first recaved its principa impulse,
the inaugpidous draumdances undar which it wes commenoed, the difflcuhies which it hed to encounter, from
thewant of practicd knowledge, the prgudice which exiged, the oppodtion from interes, aridng from
edablished commadd rdations, the unequd competition which it hes hed to sugan with the British
manufacturing interests whenwe condder these and other draumgtances, it mudt be a matter of surprise, thet it
hes acquired the importance, and grown to the extent thet it hes |f the short and inaugaidous period of a few
years hes produced such reaults, what mey not be expedted in haf acentury?’

In these early yearsof American industrialization, atypical New England cotton spinning mill was of frame
constmction, Sted along amodest water privilege and producing cottonyam for cloth manufacture on hand
looms. By the 1830s, competition and economies of scaein the cotton economy—now commonly employing
power looms— encouraged specidization on the part of amdler entrepreneurs aswell asinvestment in the
rdated areasof machine fabrication, textile finishing, axd woolen manufacture. Thus emerged aconfident and
diverse textile economy, encompassing abroad range of producers, suppliers, specidized manufacture, and

Source: Transactions of the Societyfor the Encouragement of Domedtic Industry, 1863. This survey wastekenjust before the
introduction of the power loom, experimentally introduced at the Lyman Mill in North Providence in 1816.
* This Randdl privilege would, over the course of the 19* century, evolveinto the Wanskuck Company (est. 1862), amgor regiond
woolen producer that acquired the Geneva Worsted Mill's holdings (including the Heeton & Cowing Mill) in 1896.
" John Reese and John Niles, Gazetteer of the States of Connecticut and Rhode |sland (1819), p. 323. The authors noted that there
were dready 52 cotton factoriesin Providence County &t the time, including seven North Providence mills outside of Pawtucket
Village.
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auxiliary trades. This confidencewas expressed in the erection of sturdy, masonry buildings more cgpable of
withstanding the vibration and weight of sophisticated textile machinery as well as the raveges of fireand
periodic freshets dong the rivers and streeamsthat provided power.

Heaton & Cowing

ft was in this context in August 1832 that David Heaton (1802-1864) and Martin K. Cowing (1807-1891)
purchased amill privilege in what was then part of North Providence for $6000 from William N. Rhodes, who
hed operated agrist mill there™" Thisprivilege was on the Wes River, ardatively modest sreem which hesits
heedwatersroughly three milesnorthward in Smithfield and flows southeesterly into the Maoshassuck River in
Providence™" Although itswaterpower was limited, the river was sufficient for the smdler-scale ventures of
thetime and it was in cdose proximity to the commercid and trangportation center of Providence. The laying out
of the Douglas Tumpike in 1807, extending northwesterly out of Providence to Douglas, Massachusdtts, and the
Minera Spring Tumpike in 1826, an eest-west thoroughfare between the industrial village of Pantucket and
points west, helped open up viable areasfor industrial investment along the West River. Thetwo partners
immediatdy erected asmall mill and went into busness manufacturing cotton cloth under the name of Heeaton
& Cowing. By 1835, Heaton & Cowing shared the flow and fall of the West River and itstributary streams with
svad smilarly-scaled industria enterprises. Kelly's Factory and an unnamed sawmill were upstream; Thomas
Whippl€e's satinet factory and two cotton mills operated by Stephen Randall were downsfream.™

The cotton mill gppears to have met with early success Heaton & Cowing were adle to pay off their mortgage
from William Rhodes by May 1835. Shortly after establishing themsaves as textile producers, Heaton &
Cowing leesed goacein the besement of their mill to John Whitaker and John Hollingsworth for a1-t0-3 year
term for a"coloring, bleaching, and staining works."" Whitaker and Hollingsworth aso lessed adwelling house
acquired from William Rhodesin the original purchasefor use as adrying house

Yeas later, in an 1879 deposition provided to the Rhode Idand Supreme Court in alawsuit over the deleterious
effects of industria pollution on downstream textile finishing on the West River, Martin Cowing discussed his
ealy yearsin textile manufacture.Although manufacture of cotton cloth was carried out by Heston &

Cowing between the yearsof 1832 and 1837, it gopears that cotton dyeing—Ilikely carried out by their basament
lessaes— was dso a subgtantia product of the mill. The following excerpt isfrom the deposition:

Q You hed & Gaevaadyehouss ad did conddearable [dyeing] & thet time?
A.Yes gr.

™ S North Providence Desd Books 5: 666 and 7: 146 (Pawtucket City Hall). While the deed (7:146) from Rhodes to Heston &
Cowing mede no specific mention of a water privilege or grist mill, it does mention grist mill sones on the property. The
contemporaneous mortgage deed (5: 666), however, specifically described the conveyance of a water privilege.

™ Smithfield was then alarge township that included much of northem Rhode Idand. Greater Smithfield was subdivided in 1871,
cregting today's municipalities of Smithfield, North Smithfield, Woonsocket, Centra Falls, and Lincoln. A tributary sreem of the
Weg River (described as Olney Brook by Martin Cowing in 1879), flowed eegterly fi-omthe eest dope of Fruit Hill, North
Providence, to join the West River just upstream of the Cowing and Hegaton privilege.

" Source Map of the City of Providence and Town of North Providence, Lockwood and Cushing, 1835.

" North Providence Dead Book 7: 209 (Pawtucket City Hall).

" Siver Spring Bleaching and Dyeingvs fVandaudc Company, 1879-80. Rl Supreme Court Equity Case 1492. Two bound volumes of
the proceedings of this caseare on file & the Rhode Idand Historical Society Library. Cowing, aged 77 a the time, provided a
deposition concerning his experiences as amanufecturer on the West River from 1832. The Cowing and Heeton privilege was three-
quarters of a mile upgream from the Wanskuck Company, the defendant in the lawsuit. This suit sarved as an important legd
precedent inlater decisons regarding industrial water pollution.
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Q. Won'tyou locate that year, as exactly asyou can?

A. | should think we commeanoed about the timewe located aut there, in '32.

Q You printed & Ganeve?

A. No, gr: our goods were printed a the Wanskudk [Sigohen Randdl's factory]. The dyeing wes done &

Later in the same deposition. Cowing described a Szedble dyeing operation between 1832 and 1835, employing
approximatdy fifteen men—Ilikely the Whitaker and Hollingsworth operation. Although some degreeof dyeing
continued a the Heaeton & Cowing Mill after 1835, it gopears to have been confined to the dyeing of lace ad
braid. After 1835 much of the dyeing was relocated upstream to an operation Cowing described as "the Bames
place™™ In testimony provided in the same proceedings, John Bames, alifelong dye house worker, described
the manufacture of cotton cloth by Heaton & Cowing: "They were manufacturing cloth when | first went there
in 1837." Headded, "...then they commenced making braid and shoe strings, and they colored shoe srings for
ome time,""™"

Although Heaton & Cowing's factory was located in what was then North Providence, Providence City
Directories as early as 1844 described the major product of the company as the manufacture of "corsets and
dhoe braid." An investigation of Providence directory listingsin the 1850s suggests that the mill wasnot in
operafionfrom 1850 to 1858. By 1859, Heeton & Cowing was once again listed as abraid and lace
manufacturer. This reemergence may be attributable to physica improvements and ancther lease arangement
entered into a the cdlose of the decade

Lease Agreement with Ellsworth Manufacturing Company

In 1858, Heaton & Cowing entered into a lease agreement with woolen manufacturers andfini shersAlexander
Ellsworth and George W. Cushing. In this agreement Ellsworth and Cushing, doing busness under the name
Ellsworth Manufacturing Co., would occupy:

..the new addition™ to the mill (55' x 27'), do theroom now used for jacks ad pickeshy the Ellsworth
Manufacturing Compary in the old mill of sad lessors do the right and privilege of such portion of the land
near sad mill as may be required for the erection of adry house ad tent[er] bars

Cushing and Ellsworth installed two satsof machinery for the production of woolen cloth."" Theleese
agreemeantt fiirther specified the arrangements by which sufficient mechanica power would be conveyed to the
woolen operation. The agreement guaranteed:

...a ufficiency of power to run dl the mechinary tha the Ellsworth Manufacturing Compary have heretofore run,
or its equivdent, during the twelve working hours of the day, having a regular and uniform goesd by the regulator
driving pulley in the whed houss, making 44 \2 tums par minute, sad driving pulley to be 12" in dameter with a

" 1bid, Volume 2, p. 546.

" lbid, Volume 2, p. 547. A "Bames Dye Hous2" gppearson an upsfream tributary dream on the 1870 Beer's Atlasmep. It gpopears
that the dyeing operation removed to a different location af”er about three yearsa Heaton & Cowing Mill.

" 1bid, Volume 2, p. 496. It isunclear whether Bames ever worked directly for Heston & Cowing. Hismemories of that period may
reflect hisrelated work in his family's upsream dye-works.

" 1bid, p. 519. According to the deposition of Marcus Cowing (son of Martin K. Cowing), this addition was built in the winter of
1857-8.

" 1bid.
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recaving pulley of 9 in diameter, and the ather connecting pulleys to reman as used by the Ellsvorth
Manufacturing Compeny.™"

The Federd Censusof 1860 described the production of the two companies operating out of the sonemill ad
its rear addition. """ Heaton & Cowing, capitaized a $40,000, employed eight mades and twenty-one femdes,
producing 150,000 [yards] grossof braid vaued a $25,000. Ellsworth Manufacturing Co., capitaized &
$36,000, employed seventeen maes and deven femdes, producing 288,000 yards of woolen cloth vaued a
$96,000.

Ellswvorth continued to lease parts of the Heaton & Cowing Mill until 1861

Waterpower at Heaton & Cowing

Heeton & Cowing'swater privilege on the Wes River was improved and adgpted during the period from 1832
to the acquidition of the privilege by the Geneva Worgted Mill in 1879. In the fall of 1835, Heaton and Cowing,
aong with ten other owners of water privileges, formed awater company that impounded the West River & the
North Providence/Smithfield line, cregting a 9zable pond, Wenscott Reservoir, a the heed of the river where
they could sore water to supplement the mn of the river during low-water months™™

In addition to thiseffort to provide a sronger and more conastent flow onthe West River, Heaton and Cowing
ubsequently reworked the waterpower sysem a their millsite, presumably to increesethe available power. As
shown on the 1835 L ockwood and Cushing Map of the City of Providence and Town of North Providence the
mill originaly drew itswater from the confluence of the West River and Olney Brook just west of thefactory
aoross the Douglas Pike. (See Additional Information, Figure 1) By 1853, the Lorigan and Christie Map of the
Town of North Providence shows anew raceway coming from the north, where it tgpped the Wes River
upstream a ahigher elevation. By bringing in water & a higher elevation, they could increase the amount of
power they generated. Such an increese in power probably meade the expandgon of manufacturing with the
Ellsworth Manufacturing Company possible.

Civil War-Era Rebuildingand Investment

A firein the winter of 1861 heavily dameaged the factory and likely destroyed the 55' x 27' rear addifion used
by Ellsworth Manufacturing Company. The partners rebuilt the mill immediately after thefire.""

In 1864, David Heaton died and the manufacturing operations a the mill were reorganized, with George
Cowing Douglas, anegphew of Martin Cowing, assuming amajor role. Douglas had come to work a& Heaton &
Cowing to leam the braiding and lacing tradesin 1837, when he was fourteen yearsold. 1n 1865, he formed a
company with George W. Daniels under the name Douglas and Daniels, and this company continued the
manufacture of braid and lace in the gonemill. In 1867 Martin Cowing, George Douglas and George Danidls
were incorporated as the Heston & Cowing Mill Company "for the purpose of purchasing, holding, renting.

""" North Providence Old Records Book 2: 172 (North Providence Town Hall).

""" Products of Industry manuscript data for North Providence, Rhode Idand.

"' There are three sgparate egreements or indentures related to the establishment of this company. See North Providence Desd Book 7:
397, 399,418 (Pawtucket City Hall). Ten other partners with Heston & Cowing inthis unnamed water company were: Stanford
Newell, Henry Hopkins, Issec Thurber, Philip W. Martin, Dexter Angell, Stephen Randall, Dexter Thurber (identified as agent for the
United Mfg. Co.), John R. Leonard, Thomas Whipple, and Thomas Hollis. Dexter Thurber's water privilege was on the Moshassuck
River bdow its confluence with West River. Thiswater body isnow aso known as Twin River.

" Silver Spring Bleaching and Dyeingvs Wanskuck Company, Vol. 2, p. 547.
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improving and selling mill property and for the transaction of other business connected therewith." "™ The
asts of the former company, including the neighboring Geneva Mill, were transferred to the new corporation.
While the 1870 Federd Cenausprovided no report for Heaton & Cowing, it described the Douglas and Danids
operation as capitaized a $1000, employing three mdes over the age of eighteen, six femdes over the age of
fifteen, and sxteen children. Available waterpowerftimishedsix horsepower for acomplement of machinery
that included 300 braiders and three twisters. Annual production was 80,000 yards grossbraids vaued a
$22,000. After the retirement of partner George Danielsin 1870, Douglas continued to operate the company in
the Heaton & Cowing Mill under the same nameuntil 1876, when he formed the Douglas Braid Works and
relocated the company to downtown Providence"

The GenevaWorged Mill

In 1862 Heaton and Cowing invested in the constmction of the Geneva Mill, asubgstantia brick industria plant
(bumed and rebuilt in 1891), comprising amain 100" by 50" building with an atached repair shop, dye houss,
and finishing rooms. The much larger Geneva Mill used the waterpower provided by the ca 1853 heedrace
created for the Heaton & Cowing Mill, as well as geam power. Heeton & Cowing, in tum, reverted to drawing
water fromthe original river channd just west of the factory, where they created anew pond which became
known as Geneva Pond. At the same timethey added anew single-story whedhouse addition on the southwest
comer off the gonemill. (See Additional Information Figure4 and Figure 5) In his 1879 deposition, Martin
Cowing was asked about this arrangement:

Q. Now about that pond on the west Sde of theriver there a your dace—Gaeva How is that fed?

A. Well, that recaves the surplus water that is nat recaived a the brick [Genevgl mill, and do a sream that
entas from the south—whet we cdl the Olney Brook. Where there is asurplus from the regular course that flows
ove ad runsdown into that pond™™"

Heaton & Cowing did not operate the Geneva Mill, but leesed it to a series of operators who produced
casamere (atype of woolen suiting) between 1863 and 1879 |n the latter year, the Heston & Cowing Mill
Company sold the Geneva Mill and the Heeton & Cowing Mill and to the manufacturing partnership of UUmen
and Sack.

A. Albert Sack (b. 1842) emigrated in 1866 to the United Statesfrom his native Germany, where he hed leamed
the woolen and worsted trades. In the mid-1870s he served as superintendent for Owen and Clark, then lessees
of the Geneva Mill. In 1879 Sack, in partnership with SB. and Morris UUman, purchasad the ass=ts of the
Geneva Mill from the corporation formed twelve yearsearlier. Sack and the Ullmans incorporated themsdves
& the Geneva Worgted Mills in 1880 Sack remained with the company until 1884 when he organized the
Lymansville Company, overseeing the constmction of a new seam- and waterpowered brick plant onthe
Woonasguatucket River in North Providence.

The 1881 Barlow's Insurance Survey described the Heaton &. Cowing Mill as GenevasMill No. 2. Drawing
and twisting operations were carried out on the first floor, spinning on the second. The rear frame addition was

" Rl Acts and Resolves, May Sesson 1867, pp. 26-7.
Douglas remained in downtown Providence until he relocated the company to the Wilkinson Mill in Pawtucket in 1882.
Silver Spring Bleaching and Dyeing vs  Wanskuck Company, Vol. 2, p. 549.
"*" |_essaesof the Geneva Mill included John Ross (with Hde and Burroughs) from 1863 to 1865; F.B. and A.E. Smith from 1866 to
ca 1868; and Owen and Clark from 1868 to 1879.
"* Providence Land Evidence Book 306; 443.
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used for gorage. Although the mill still employed itsown waterpower system, the Geneva Worgted Mill,
seeking to supplement available waterpower a Mill No. 2, built aframe Engine House atached to the south
wall by 1881 "™ (See Additional Information Figure 5) In 1885, Geneva built a second frame engine house &
Mill No. 2 atached to the north wall. By 1889, only the north Engine House survived (sse Additiona
Information Figure 6 and Figure 7). The southem Engine House likely succumbed to the flood of late winter
1886, which aso washed away Mill No. 2's rear sorage additions.

Morris Ullman continued to operate the Geneva Worgted Mill after Sack's departure. After amgorfirein
Jenuary, 1891, the Geneva Mill was rebuilt acquiring much of its present form. ™" (Sse Additional Information,
Fgure 8) By 1891 textile manufacturing had ceesed in the old mill, which weas reused for Sorage and a
carpenter's shop. The engine house and the rebuilt rear addition were usad for scouring and drying operations.

The Wanskuck Company

In 1896, the Wanskuck Company, alarge worsted company with itsfactory 'A-mile down the West River where
Sephen Randall's cotton factory once sood, acquired the entire Geneva complex and added it to their
operaions. The Wanskuck Company kept the Heaton & Cowing Mill and itsrear addition, but demolished the
1830s engine house and the 1862 whedhouse sometime prior to 1918. Itislikely that the Wanskuck Company
was respongble for rebuilding the mill's roof a thistime with the current shallow-pitched mill constmction
roof

Between 1926 and 1937 the Wanskuck Company demolished the frame rear addition to the Heaston & Cowing
Mill and built abrick, two-story, 44' x 53' addition initsplace. Thisflat-roofedaddition, typica of factory
congmction of the period, effectively doubled the sze of the building. By the early 1950s the building sarved as
the Geneva complex's machine and carpenter shop. Aswas commonin the Southem New England textile
industry after World Wer 11, labor conflict and southemn competition forced the Wanskuck Company to close
down the Geneva Mill in 1957.

Recent Higtory

No longer assodated with the neighboring Geneva complex, the Heaston & Cowing Mill sarved various
industrid uses between 1957 and ca 2000. Theeincluded severd jewelryfindingsmanufacturers,
dectroplaters and polishers. Themill, itsbrick addition and the rear cament block building have been vecant
dnce that time. The waterpower sysem a the mill hes largely disgppeared as the raceways have been filled and
in the March and April floodsof 2010 the Geneva Dam was breached and the mill pond drained. Thebuilding is
currently under consideration for residential adaptive reuse.

""" There issomeambiguity in the historical record as to whether this engine house wasframeor brick. Fire insurance gandards
relative to the possibility of boiler explosions generdly required that these buildings be made of brick. Insurance drawingsof the
period show neither boilersnor achimney in the Heaton & Cowing Mill's Engine House It gopears that piped $eam wis carried from
the muhiple boilers of the Geneva Mill into af rameengine house
" A clipping from the Boston Journal (dated Jan. 5, 1891) paded to the 1839 Barlow'sInsurance Survey of the Geneva Mill
describes afirein which "the main buildings of the Geneva Worgted Mill were bumed.” It isunknown whether thisfire dameged the
Heeton & Cowing Mill. A supplementa survey completed by Barlow'sin December 1891 shows the new brick mill complex but the
donebuilding is unchanged from its depiction two years earlier.

1



United States Department of the Interior
National Pari< Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Fonn

NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018 (Expires 5/31/2012)
Heaton & Cowing Mill Providence County, RI
Name of Property County and State

Developmental history/additional historic context Information (if appropriate)
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Previous documentation on file (NPS): Primary location of additional data:

preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67 has been X State Historic Preservation Office
requested) Other State agency

previously listed in the National Register Federal agency

previously detennined eligible by the National Register Local government

designated a National Historic Landmark University

recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey # Other

RI Historical Preservation and Heritage
recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #. Name of repository: Commission
recorded by Historic American Landscape Survey # _

Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned):

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property .58 acres
(Do not include previously listed resource acreage.)

UTM References

(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)

1 19 297260 4636740
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

Verbal Boundary Description

The boundaries of the Heaton & Cowing Mill are contiguouswith those of the City of Providence Tax
Asesor'sFlat 78, Lots 196 and 383

Boundary Judification
The boundaries of this .58-acre parcal encompassthe portion of the original 2-acrelot and water privilege

acquired by Heaton and Cowing in 1832 that containsthe surviving historic mill complex in its riversde setting.
S Additional Information Figure 11 for a detail from Providence Assessor's Flat Map No. 78.

11. Form Prepared By

namef/title Edward Connors

organization Edward Connors and Associates date February 2012

Street & number 39 Dyer Avenue telephone 401 595-0699

city or town Riverside State Rl zip code 02915
e-mail nconnors(a)cox.net
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Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form:

» Maps: A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources. Key all
photographs to this map.

Continuation Sheets

» Additional items: (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items.)

Photographs:

Submit clear and descriptive photographs. The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels at 300 ppi (pixels per inch)
or larger. Key all photographs to the sketch map.

Name of Property: Heaton & Cowing Mill

City or Vicinity: Providence

County: Providence State: RI
Photographer: Richard Greenwood except for Edward Connors, Photo 2
Date Photographed: April 4, 2012 except for: Photo 1-April 11, 2012; Photo 2 - April 6, 2012; Photo 12 - Dec. 5, 2011
Description of Photograph(s) and number:

1 of 13. North and west elevations, view SE

2 of 13. West elevation, view E

3 of 13. East and north elevations view SW

4 of 13. South elevation, view NW

5 of 13. View west with Heaton & Cowing Mill on left and Geneva Mill on right
6 of 13. Stone mill first floor, view SE

7 of 13. Stone mill first floor, detail view of cased heavy timber framing

8 of 13. Rear addition first floor, view NW

9 of 13. Rear addition stairway, view S

10 of 13. Rear addition second fioor, view NE

11 of 13. Stone Mill second fioor, view NW

12 of 13. Stone mill basement, view NE

13 of 13. Rear addition basement, view SE
15



United States Department of the Interior
National Pari< Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Fomn
NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018

Heaton & Cowing Mill
Name of Property

Property Owner:
(Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO.)

name .
Kenneth Correra
street & number 2110 North Florida Mango Road

city ortown West Palm Beach

(Expires 5/31/2012)

Providence County, RI
County and State

telephone

state _FL Zip code 34409

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to hominate
properties for listing or detennine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a
tienefit in accordance with the National Historic Presen/ation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 et seq ).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18 hours per response including time for reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of
this forni to the Office of Planning and Perfomiance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC.
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Additional I nformation

Figure 1

Detail from Lockwood and Cushing,
Map of the City of Providence and Town of North Providence (1835)
Showing "Heaton & Cos. Factory" and other factory Steson the Wes River.

Figure 2
Detail from Lorigan and Christy
Map of the Town of North Providence (1853)

Showing redignment of the West River and direct flow to the whedhouse of "Hegton & Cowan” (Sic).
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Figure 3

Detail from G.M. Hopkins, Atlas of Providence Rl (\S75)
showing former heedrace of the Heaton & Cowing Mill as adgpted for the Geneva Mills.
By thistime, overflow from the main flow of the river had been rerouted
to enter the Heaton & Cowing Mill's whedhouse from Geneva Pond (not shown) to the west.

West Siivfir.

Figure4
Detail from Samud B. Cushing, Sketch, Showing the Upper Portion of West River (1879)
Exhibit 14, Silver Spring Bleaching and Dyeing vs Wanskuck Co.
showing complex water sysgem of Geneva plant and Heston & Cowing Mill (circled).
The "Q" and "R" labelsrefer to hydraulic andydsgiven by Cushing in his 1879 depostion.
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Figure5

Detail from plan of Geneva Worgted Mills, Barlow's Insurance Survey No. 6712 (1881),
showing the Heaton & CowingMill as GenevasMill No. 2 (A),
the first Engine House as built on the south (water) sdeof the building,
and two rear frame additions used for dorege (B).
The Store House, Storage Shed (both labdled B), Carriage Shed, and first Engine House
were washed away inthe flood of February 1886.

GENEVA mRSTED MILL,

Figure 6
Detail from illustration of Geneva Worged Mills, Barlow's Insurance Survey No. 9758 (1889),
showing the Heaton & CowingMill (A, circled), the north Engine House (unlabded, s plan Figure 7),
and Dryer House (B).
The amall gebled roof sructure pictured just aovethe letter B inthisdrawing
enclosed the beking and shafting carrying power from the second Engine Houseto the mill.
Note the whedhouse a far |eft depressad below the ground floor.
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Figure?7

Detail from plan of Geneva Worsed Mill, Heaton & CowingMill Co., Barlow's Insurance Survey No. 9758 (1889),
showing continued use of the Heaton & Cowing Mill as Genevas No. 2 Mill (A, circled) ad itswhedhouse,
a well as continued ue of the Engine House, and the rear frame addition as a Dryer House (B).

Figure 8
Detail from Geneva Worgsted Mill, Barlow's Insurance Survey No. 10490 (1891)
Showing use of the Heaton & Cowing Mill (J) as Storehouse and Carpenter Shop,
and u= of the rear addition for Scouring and Storage (K, L and M).
The engine houseis no longer is use
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Figure9

Detail from Sanbom Fire Insurance Map of North Providence (1956)
showing continued use of the Heaton & Cowing Mill for Sorage under Wanskuck ownership
and use of the rear brick addition, built between 1926 and 1937, as a Machine and Carpenter shop.

53 52
Post-1982
cement block
building (NC) Ca. 1930 brick addition 1835 et seq. mill
4 44 44
53
Figure 10

Drawing from City of Providence Assessor's Data showing current conditions.
(1-r) post-1982 cement block rear building, the brick addition built between 1926 and 1937,
and the Heaton & Cowing Mill
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Figure 11
Detall from City of Providence Assessor's Hat Mgp 78, Lots 196 ad 383
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April 20, 2012
Mr. J. Paul Loether, Chief
Nationa Park Service 2280, 8™ Floor
National Regigter of Historic Haces
1201 1 (Eye) Strest, NW
Washington, DC 20005

Dear Mr. Loether:

Endosed isthe completed National Regiger of Historic Flaces nomination for the
Heaton & Cowing Mill, & 1115 Douglas Ave in Providence, Rhode Idand.

Notification procedures required by law have been followed. The nomination hes
been reviewed by the Rhode 1dand Review Board and gpproved.

Pursuant to the Nationa Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended in 1980, a5
Sae Historic Preservation Officer for Rhode 1dand, | hereloy nominate this property to the
National Regigter of Historic Places

Sincerdy,

Edward F. Sanderson
Sate Historic Preservation Officer

/mam
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